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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 

Your Directors present their report on Burley Minerals Limited (the Company or Burley) and its 
controlled entities (the Group) for the financial year ending 30 June 2022 (the year). 
 
Burley is a company limited by shares that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its listed equity 
securities are quoted on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX). 

Directors 

The names of the directors in office at any time during, or since the end of, the financial period are: 

 Wayne Richards – appointed Managing Director on 9 February 2022 (appointed CEO 4 January 2022) 

 Bryan Dixon 

 Jeff Brill 

 Gary Raymond Powell – resigned 9 February 2022 

Directors were in office for the entire year unless otherwise stated above. 

 

The experience and other directorships of the directors in office at the date of this report are as follows: 

 

Bryan Dixon – Non-Executive Chairman 

B. Comm; CA; ACIS 

 

Mr Dixon has over 20 years’ experience in the mining sector and is a Chartered Accountant with 
extensive experience in the management of public and listed exploration and mining companies. 
Previously, Mr Dixon has been employed by an international accounting firm, Resolute Limited, 
Archipelago Resources Plc and Blackham Resources Ltd. He was a joint winner of the Asia-Pacific 
Mining Executive of the year in 2017. Mr Dixon has held numerous director and management roles with 
emerging resource companies. Mr Dixon has broad experience across the exploration and mining 
industry including, mergers and acquisitions, feasibility, financing, development and operations.   

 

Mr Dixon is a member both of the Governance Institute of Australia and the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants. 

 

Mr Dixon is a non-executive director at Aura Energy Ltd from December 2021 and was a non-executive 

director of Lithium Australia NL from December 2009 until 14 January 2021.  Mr Dixon was Managing 

Director of Blackham Resources Ltd from June 2006 until 1 May 2019. 

 

Wayne Richards - Managing Director 

(BSc; Grad Dip of Management; GAICD) 

 

Mr Richards has over 35 years’ experience in the Mining and Resource sector, and was formerly 

Managing Director of Brockman Resources, Executive Chairman and CEO of Tawana Resources and 

Executive Project Director of Minprovise International Ltd and Strike Resources Ltd.  

 

Mr Richards has extensive experience in the coordination and approvals of mining and mineral 

processing studies (Scoping to BFS level), project development, operational readiness and 

commissioning programmes and corporate financing. 

Mr Richards has performed executive and non-executive roles with ASX and JSE- listed companies and 

has fulfilled senior executive roles with BHP and Anaconda Nickel. Wayne has held non-executive 

directorships with both listed companies and Joint Ventures/Alliances.   
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 

Wayne Richards - Managing Director (Cont.) 

 

As Managing Director of Brockman Resources Mr Richards was responsible for the development of the 

Marillana - 20 Mtpa Iron Ore Project in the Pilbara region. Mr Richards has fulfilled senior executive 

positions within BHP Billiton’s iron ore division, including Deputy Vice President of Boodarie Iron, and 

Asset Commissioning Leader, with direct responsibility for integrating projects across BHP’s three iron 

ore business sectors – mine, port and rail.  

 

Mr Richards was the former Project Commissioning and Refinery Operations Manager for Anaconda 

Nickel’s Murrin Murrin Project and recently fulfilled the Project Director’s role for Strike Resources’ Iron 

Ore Projects. 

 

Mr Richards was appointed Chief Executive Office on 4 January 2022 and promoted to Managing 

Director on 09 February 2022 (in addition to his role as CEO). 

 

Jeff Brill – Independent Non-Executive Director 

 

Mr Brill is a project manager well experienced in the mining and oil & gas sectors having executed 

projects in remote locations and operated in a variety of roles including Project Manager, Project 

Engineer, General Manager and Managing Director.  Mr Brill has built project teams from the ground up 

to successfully execute a variety of projects and is an owner of engineering consultancy Avora. 

 

Mr Brill was previously Managing Director of Engenium, where he delivered numerous studies, project 

management, detailed design engineering and full EPCM services to the mining industry.  Engenium’s 

client list included Atlas Iron and BC Iron as they fast-tracked themselves into production, as well as blue 

chip miners including BHP, Rio Tinto and FMG. 

 

Company Secretary 

 

Ms Wynne was appointed Company Secretary on 20 May 2021. 

 

Ms Wynne has a Bachelor Business and is a Fellow of the Governance Institute of Australia and a 

Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants.  Her experience includes over 17 years of board level 

experience across the commercial sector with a particular focus on the finance, accounting, corporate 

services, technology, and resources industries across ASX and TSX listed companies.  

 

Review of Operations 

The loss of the Company for the financial period after providing for income tax amounted to $694,264 

(2021: $730,062). 

 

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 

There were no significant changes in the Company’s state of affairs during the financial period. 

 

Principal Activities 

The principal activity of the Company during the course of the financial year consisted of mineral 
exploration, evaluation and development. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 

Events Subsequent to the End of the Reporting Period 

There were no matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial period which 

significantly affected or could significantly affect the operations of the company, the results of those 

operations or the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years. 

Likely Developments and Expected Results of Operations 

The Company will continue its mineral exploration activity at and around its exploration projects with the 

object of identifying commercial resources. 

 

Environmental Regulation 

The Company has a policy of complying with or exceeding its environmental performance obligations. 

The Board believes that the Company has adequate systems in place for the management of its 

environmental requirements.  The Company aims to ensure the appropriate standard of environmental 

care is achieved, and in doing so, that it is aware of and is in compliance with all environmental 

legislation.  The Directors are not aware of any breach of environmental legislation for the financial period 

under review. 

 

Remuneration Report - Audited 

 
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each director of the Company. 
 
Remuneration Policy 
 
The remuneration policy of Burley has been designed to align Director and executive objectives with shareholder 
and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component which is assessed on an annual basis in 
line with market rates.  The further tailoring of goals between shareholders and the Directors and executives is 
achieved through the issue of equity to the directors and executives to encourage the alignment of personal and 
shareholder interest. 
 
The Board of the Company believes the remuneration policy to be appropriate and effective in its ability to attract 
and retain the best personnel to run and manage the Company, as well as create goal congruence between 
Directors, executives and shareholders. 
 
The remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions for the Directors and executives was developed by the 
Managing Director and approved by the Board. 
 
In determining competitive remuneration rates, the Board reviews independent advice on local and international 
trends among comparative companies and industry generally.  It examines terms and conditions for employee 
incentive schemes benefit plans and other incentive plans. 
 
Independent advice is obtained to confirm that executive remuneration is in line with market practice and is 
reasonable in the context of Australian executive reward practices. 
 
The Group is exploration and development focussed, and therefore speculative in terms of performance. 
Consistent with attracting and retaining talented people, the Directors and executives are paid market rates 
associated with individuals in similar positions, within the same industry.  
 
Options and performance incentives will be issued in the event that the entity moves from an exploration entity to 
a producing entity, and key performance indicators such as profits and growth can be used as measurements for 
assessing Board and executive performance. 
 
All remuneration paid to Directors and executives is valued at the cost to the Company and expensed or carried 
forward on the balance sheet for time that is attributable to exploration and evaluation. Options are valued using 
the Black-Scholes methodology. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 

Remuneration Report – Audited (Cont’d) 
 
The Board policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for comparable companies for time, 
commitment and responsibilities.  The Managing Director, in consultation with independent advisors as necessary, 
determines payments to the non-executive Directors and reviews their remuneration annually, based on market 
practice, duties and accountability.  The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive 
directors is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.  Fees for non-executive Directors 
are not linked to the performance of the Company.  However, to align Directors’ interests with shareholder 
interests, all Directors are encouraged to hold shares in the Company. 
 
Employment Contracts of Directors and Senior Executives 
 
On 09 February 2022, the Company promoted Mr Wayne Richards as Managing Director in addition to his role as 
CEO of the Company.  Mr Richards’ remuneration included performance rights as follows and on the terms and 
conditions outlined in the Burley Securities Incentive Plan: 

• 750,000 subject to: 

(a) the CEO having completed 12 months continued service; and 

(b) the Company Share price achieves a 15-day VWAP price milestone of at least $0.40 per share within 
two years of signing the Employment Agreement (i.e. 12 December 2023); 

• 750,000 after the grant of a mining lease(s) under the Mining Act over at least 50% of the iron resource 
identified within the Tenement area as at 29 October 2020; 

• 750,000 after the completion by Burley of a successful Preliminary Feasibility Study (as defined in the 
Acquisition Agreement) that demonstrates extraction of minerals from the Tenements to be viable under 
reasonable financial assumptions; and 

• 750,000 upon the first occasion of commercial iron ore production. 
 
The employment conditions of Mr Wayne Richards were formalised in a Contract of Employment.  This staff 
employment agreement commenced on 9 February 2022 and was inclusive of an annual review process. The 
Agreement provided Mr Richards with a commencement base salary of $290,000 (inclusive of statutory 
Superannuation) and an annual bonus (STI) of up to 30% of the Base Salary (subject to achievement of KPI’s, as 
agreed with the Board). In addition to this remuneration, as outlined above, the Company issued Mr Richards 
3,000,000 Performance Rights, as part of a long-term incentive (LTI) program and an attraction/retention strategy.  
 
In the event of termination on Notice by Burley, or resignation by Mr Richards, a four-month written notice period 
will apply, or payment in lieu of this Notice period. 
 
An employment contract is in place for the Non-Executive Directors, Bryan Dixon and Jeff Brill.  Mr Dixon’s annual 
fee is $70,000 per annum commencing 7 July 2021.  Mr Brill’s annual fee is $40,000 per annum commencing 7 
July 2021.  In addition to the base fee, Mr Dixon was paid a bonus of $50,000 for the successful ASX Admission of 
the Company. 
 
The employment conditions of Mr Gary Powell (resigned 9 February 2022) were formalised in a contract for 
consultancy services.  This contract commenced on 7 July 2021  and had a 3-year rolling term which included an 
annual review incorporating a minimum increase in fees based upon the prevailing CPI in June and December 
each year.  The contract provided Mr Powell with a commencement annual fee of $250,000 from 7 July 2021 until 
his resignation date. Mr Powell has continued to consult to the Company on an agreed scheduled daily rate, since 
his resignation. 
 
The employment agreements and contracts stipulate a range of resignation notice periods.  The Company may 
terminate an employment agreement or contract without cause by providing written notice or making payment in 
lieu of notice, based on the individual’s annual salary component and employment agreement terms.   
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 
Remuneration Report – Audited (Cont’d) 
 
Details of Remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2022 
 
The remuneration for key management personnel of the company during the year was as follows: 

 
Short-term Benefits Post  

Employment  

Benefits 

Other  

Long-term 

Benefits 

Share based Payment Total Performance 
Related 

 Cash, salary 

& bonuses 

Cash 

profit  

share 

Non-cash  

Benefit 

Other Super Other Equity Options / 

Performance 

Rights 

 

  

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % 

Wayne Richards – Managing Director – (Appointed 9 February 2022) 

2022 130,681 - - - 13,068 - - 4,125 147,874 2.8 

2021 - - - - - - - - - - 

Bryan Dixon – Chairman 

2022 70,000 - - 50,000 - - - - 120,000 0.00 

2021 7,500 - - - - - - 19,097 26,597 71.8 

Jeff Brill – Non Executive Director  

2022 40,000 - -  -  - - 40,000 0.0 

2021 11,667 - - - - - 20,000 7,639 39,306 19.4 

Gary Powell – Managing Director 

2022 174,820 - - - - - - - 174,820 0.0 

2021 35,000 - - - - - 80,000 33,548 148,548 22.6 

George Bauk – Non Executive Chairman – (resigned 23 April 2021) 

2022 - - - - - - - - -  

2021 10,000 - - - - - 40,000 7,639 57,639 13.3 

Total Remuneration 

2022 415,501 - - 50,000 13,068 -  4,125 482,694 0.85 

2021 64,167 - - - - - 140,000 67,923 272,090 25.0 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 
 
Remuneration Report – Audited (Cont’d) 
 

Related Parties 

The Company’s main related parties are as follows: 

a. Entities Exercising Control over the Company 

 The directors, being Mr Bryan Dixon, Mr Jeff Brill and Mr Wayne Richards and their controlled 

entities. 

b. Key Management Personnel 

 Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities 

of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that 

entity is considered key management personnel. 

 The three continuing directors, as detailed above. 

 

c. Entities Subject to Significant Influence by the Company 

 An entity that has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity, 

but does not have control over those policies, is an entity that holds significant influence.  Significant 

influence may be gained by share ownership, statute or agreement. 

 None. 

d. Other Related Parties 

 Other related parties include close family members of key management personnel and entities that 

are controlled or jointly controlled by those key management personnel, individually or collectively 

with their close family members. 

 
Other transactions with Key Management Personnel 
 
Warrior Strategic Pty Ltd was paid a total of $119,949 (2021: $108,905) in business development, investor 
relations, Company Secretary, Chief Financial Officer and Taxation Public Officer functions for the year.  Warrior 
Strategic is considered by the Company to be a related Party, as the Non-Executive Chairman of Burley, Mr Bryan 
Dixon, is sole director and sole shareholder of Warrior Strategic Pty Ltd. 

 
Key Management Personnel (KMP) Share and Option Holdings 

 

Share Holdings 

 

30 June 2022 

Balance 

1 July 2021 

Granted as 

Remuneration 

Options 

Exercised 

Net Change 

Other 

Balance 

30 June 2022 

      

W Richards (appointed 9 

February 2022) 

- - - - - 

B Dixon3 1,057,422 - - 50,000 1,107,422 

J Brill4 694,531 - -  694,531 

G Powell (resigned 9 

February 2022) 

 

1,144,532 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

1,144,532 

 2,896,485 - - 50,000 2,946,485 
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Remuneration Report – Audited (Cont’d) 

 
Key Management Personnel (KMP) Share and Option Holdings (Cont.) 

 

Share Holdings 

 

30 June 2021 

Balance 

29 October 

2020 

Granted as 

Remuneration 

Options 

Exercised 

Net Change 

Other 

Balance 

30 June 2021 

      

G Powell - 1,000,000 - 144,532 1,144,532 

B Dixon3 - - - 1,057,422 1,057,422 

J Brill4 - 250,000 - 444,531 694,531 

 - 1,250,000 - 1,646,485 2,896,485 

 

 
Option Holdings 
 
 
30 June 2022 

Balance 
1 July 2021 

Issued 
Acquired 

 Exercised Cancelled 
Balance 

30 June 2022 

Vested 
during 

the period 

Vested 
and 

exercisable 
 

       

G Powell1 2,250,000 - - 1,750,000 500,000 - 500,000 

G Powell2 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 - - - 

B Dixon1,3 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 

J Brill4 1,250,000 - - - 1,250,000 - 1,250,000 

 
7,500,000 - - 3,750,000 3,750,000 - 3,750,000 

 
 
 
 
30 June 2021 

Balance 
29 October 

2020 

Issued 
Acquired 

 Exercised Sold 
Balance 

30 June 2021 

Vested 
during 

the period 

Vested 
and 

exercisable 
 

       

G Powell1 - 2,250,000 - - 2,250,000 2,250,000 2,250,000 

G Powell2 - 2,000,000  - 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 

B Dixon1,3 - 2,750,000 - (750,000) 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 

J Brill4 - 1,250,000 - - 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 

 
- 8,250,000 - (750,000) 7,500,000 7,500,000 7,500,000 

 
(1)  Options are exercisable at $0.30 on or before 7 July 2023.  Mr Powell resigned as Director on 9 February 2022. 
(2)  Options are exercisable at $0.45 on or before 7 July 2024. 
(3)  Mr Bryan Dixon holds Shares and Options through Warrior Strategic Pty Ltd, an entity in which Mr Dixon is a 

director and shareholder, as trustee for the Warrior Strategic Trust and Shares in the Company through Warrior 

Finance Pty Ltd, an entity in which Mr Dixon is a director and shareholder, as for trustee of the Warrior Super 

Fund.  The Options are exercisable at $0.30 per Share on or before 7 July 2023.  
(4)  Mr Jeffrey Brill holds Shares and Options as trustee for the Minx Super Fund.  The Options are exercisable at 

$0.30 per Share on or before 7 July 2023. 

 

Performance Rights Holders  

Mr Richards holds 3,000,000 performance rights as detailed earlier in this report. 
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Transactions with Related Parties 

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable 

than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 

The following transactions occurred with related parties: 

Consultancy Agreement with Managing Director 

Mr Richard’s annual remuneration package under the Consultancy Agreement is $290,000 (including 
superannuation).  In addition to the base, Mr Richards was issued 3,000,000 performance rights as 
detailed earlier in this report. 

Non-Executive Director Agreements 

An annual fee will be paid to each of the continuing Non-Executive Directors as follows:  

• $70,000 payable to Mr Bryan Dixon; and 

• $40,000 payable to Mr Jeff Brill. 
 
In addition to the base fee, on successful ASX Admission of the Company, Mr Dixon was entitled to and 
was paid a bonus of $50,000.  The Company was Listed on 7 July 2021. 

• Mr Powell’s annual remuneration package under the Consultancy Agreement was $250,000 
(excluding GST).  Mr Powell resigned as a Director on 9 February 2022. 

Consultancy Agreement with Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 

Burley has contracted Warrior Strategic Pty Ltd as its Business Development, Company Secretary, Chief 
Financial Officer and Taxation Public Officer functions on a consulting basis.  Warrior Strategic Pty Ltd 
was paid a total of $119,949 (2021: $108,905) for the year.  Mr Dixon is the sole Director and Shareholder 
of Warrior Strategic Pty Ltd. 

Other than the above, there were no related party transactions during the financial period or to the date of 
this financial report. 

 

End of Remuneration Report 

 

Dividends 

There have been no dividends paid or declared since the start of the financial period. 

 

Options 

 

The following options over issued shares or interests in the Company or a controlled entity were granted 

during or since the end of the financial period and there were 7,350,000 options outstanding at the date of 

this report. 

 

 Exercise Period Exercise 
Price 

Issued 
during the 

Period 

Number on 
issue at 30 
June 2022 

    

 On or before 7 July 2023 $0.30 - 6,250,000 

On or before 30 September 2023 $0.30 1,100,000 1,100,000 

Total options  1,100,000 7,350,000 

 

No shares were issued during or since the end of the period as a result of the exercise of an option over 

unissued shares or interests. 



Burley Minerals Ltd Annual Report 2022 

12 
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Indemnification of Officers 

In accordance with the constitution, except as may be prohibited by the Corporations Act 2001 every 
Officer, or agent of the Company shall be indemnified out of the property of the Company against any 
liability incurred by him in his capacity as Officer or agent of the Company or any related corporation in 
respect of any act or omission whatsoever and howsoever occurring or in defending any proceedings, 
whether civil or criminal. No indemnification has been paid with respect to the Company’s auditor. The 
Company has insurance policies in place for Directors and Officers insurance.  

 

Proceedings on Behalf of the Company 

No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any 

proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the 

Company for all or any part of those proceedings. 

The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the period. 

 

Non-audit Services 

No non-audit services were provided by the Company’s auditor during the year. 

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under s 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 

is set out on page 13. 

This directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors: 

 

 

Director   

  Bryan Dixon 

Dated this 26th day of September 2022 



 

To the Board of Directors 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE 

CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 

As lead audit director for the audit of the financial statements Burley Minerals Ltd for the financial year 

ended 30 June 2022, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 

contraventions of: 

• the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

• any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 
 
 
 
HALL CHADWICK WA AUDIT PTY LTD D M BELL  CA 

 Director 

 

 

Dated this 26th day of September 2022 

Perth, Western Australia 
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THEYEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 

 

Note 

 

30 June 

2022 

$ 

30 June 

2021 

$ 

Revenue from continuing operations 2 5,008 53 

    

Professional fees  - (231,739) 

Professional Fees – equity based payments  (125,979) (19,097) 

Administration expenses  (95,355) (22,190) 

Directors fees  (195,450) (35,416) 

Directors fees – equity based payments  27,513 (188,825) 

Compliance and regulatory expenses  (173,019) (185,781) 

Employment expense  (53,153) - 

Occupancy expenses  (75,519) (41,843) 

Depreciation  (3,554) - 

Other expenses  (4,756) (5,224) 

Loss before income tax  (694,264) (730,062) 

Tax expense 3 - - 

Loss for the period  (694,264) (730,062) 

Other comprehensive income  - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the period  (694,264) (730,062) 

    

Loss for the period attributable to:    

Members of the parent entity  (692,028) (730,062) 

Non-controlling interest  (2,236) - 

  (694,264) (730,062) 

Total comprehensive loss for the period attributable to:    

Members of the parent entity  (692,028) (730,062) 

Non-controlling interest  (2,236) - 

  (694,264) (730,062) 

 

 

Basic and diluted loss per share        $0.010          $0.041 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
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 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 AS AT 30 JUNE 2022 

 

 

Note 

 

30 June 

2022 

$ 

30 June 

2021 

$ 

ASSETS    

CURRENT ASSETS    

Cash and cash equivalents 5 4,062,783 6,210,402 

Trade and other receivables 6 22,825 114,095 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  4,085,608 6,324,497 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Plant and Equipment 7 7,724 - 

Exploration and evaluation assets 8 5,793,413 65,000 

Loan receivable 9 - 261,022 

Other non-current asset 8a - 4,000,000 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  5,801,137 4,326,022 

TOTAL ASSETS  9,886,745 10,650,519 

LIABILITIES    

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 10 551,701 729,538 

Provisions 11 9,861 - 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  561,562 729,538 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  561,562 729,538 

NET ASSETS  9,325,183 9,920,981 

    

EQUITY    

Issued capital 12 10,496,630 10,496,630 

Reserves 12 252,879 154,413 

Accumulated losses  (1,422,090) (730,062) 

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO MEMBERS OF THE 
COMPANY  

 

9,327,419 9,920,981 

Non-controlling interest  (2,236) - 

TOTAL EQUITY  9,325,183 9,920,981 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 

       

 
Issued 

Capital 

Ordinary 

Accumulated 

Losses 

 

 

Reserves 

Total Members 

Equity 

Non-

controlling 

interest Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2021 10,496,630 (730,062) 154,413 9,920,981 - 9,920,981 

       

Comprehensive income       

Loss for the period - (692,028) - (692,028) (2,236) (694,264) 

Total comprehensive income for 
the year attributable to owners of 
the Company - (692,028) 

 

- 

 

(692,028) 

 

(2,236) (694,264) 

Transactions with owners, in 
their capacity as owners, and 
other transfers:   

   

 

Shares issued - - - - - - 

Costs of issuing shares - - - - -  

Share based payments - - 98,466 98,466 - 98,466 

Balance at 30 June 2022 10,496,630 (1,422,090) 252,879 9,327,419 (2,236) 9,325,183 

       

 

Issued 

Capital 

Ordinary 

Accumulated 

Losses 

 

 

Reserves 

Total 

Members 

Equity 

Non-

controlling 

interest Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 29 October 2020 1 - - 1 - 1 

       

Comprehensive income       

Loss for the period - (730,062) - (730,062) - (730,062) 

Total comprehensive income for 
the year attributable to owners of 
the Company - (730,062) 

 

- 

 

(730,062) 

 

- (730,062) 

Transactions with owners, in 
their capacity as owners, and 
other transfers:   

   

 

Shares issued 10,980,000 - - 10,980,000 - 10,980,000 

Costs of issuing shares (483,371) - - (483,371) - (483,371) 

Share based payments - - 154,413 154,413 - 154,413 

Balance at 30 June 2021 10,496,630 (730,062) 154,413 9,920,981 - 9,920,981 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 

 

Note 

 

30 June 

2022 

$ 

30 June 

2021 

$ 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Interest Received  5,008 53 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (770,693) (296,250) 

Net cash used in operating activities  16 (765,685) (296,197) 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Payments for plant and equipment  (11,278) - 

Payments to acquire Exploration and Evaluation assets  (981,156) (65,000) 

Loan payments made to non-related parties  - (261,022) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (992,434) (326,022) 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from issue of shares  - 6,840,001 

Payments for costs of issue of shares  (389,500) (7,380) 

Net cash provided by financing activities  (389,500) 6,832,621 

    

Net increase in cash held  (2,147,619) 6,210,402 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial period  6,210,402 - 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial period 5 4,062,783 6,210,402 

    

 The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

The financial statements cover Burley Minerals Ltd (the Company) as an individual entity.  The Company 

is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 23 September 2022 by the directors of the 

Company. 

The financial statements of the Company, with the exception of the statement of cash flows, are prepared 

on an accrual basis. 

 

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Basis of Preparation 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting Standards Board 

and International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board.  The Company is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting 

Standards.  Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are 

presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise. 

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information have been prepared on an accrual basis and 

are based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected 

non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the financial 

statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar. 

 

a. Income Tax 

 The income tax expense (income) for the year comprises current income tax expense (income) and 

deferred tax expense (income). 

 Current income tax expense charged to profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income for the 

current period. Current tax liabilities (assets) are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to 

(recovered from) the relevant taxation authority using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

 Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability 

balances during the year as well as unused tax losses. 

 Current and deferred income tax expense (income) is charged or credited outside profit or loss 

when the tax relates to items that are recognised outside profit or loss or arising from a business 

combination. 

 A deferred tax liability shall be recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent 

that the deferred tax liability arises from: 

 – the initial recognition of goodwill; or 

 – the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which: 

  - is not a business combination; and 

  - at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax 

loss). 
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 

period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled and their measurement also reflects the 

manner in which management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset 

or liability. With respect to non-depreciable items of property, plant and equipment measured at fair 

value and items of investment property measured at fair value, the related deferred tax liability or 

deferred tax asset is measured on the basis that the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered 

entirely through sale. When an investment property that is depreciable is held by the Company in a 

business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied 

in the property through use over time (rather than through sale), the related deferred tax liability or 

deferred tax asset is measured on the basis that the carrying amount of such property will be 

recovered entirely through use. 

 Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to 

the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of 

the deferred tax asset can be utilised. 

 Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates 

and joint ventures, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the 

reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will 

occur in the foreseeable future. 

 Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is 

intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and 

liability will occur. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where: (i) a legally enforceable right 

of set-off exists; and (ii) the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 

same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities, where it is 

intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and 

liability will occur in future periods in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities 

are expected to be recovered or settled. 

b. Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 

 The Company measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or non-

recurring basis, depending on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard. 

 Fair value is the price the Company would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer a 
liability in an orderly (ie unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing 
market participants at the measurement date.  

 As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing 

information is used to determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having 

regard to the characteristics of the specific asset or liability. The fair values of assets and liabilities 

that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more valuation techniques. 

These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data. 

 To the extent possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the asset 

or liability (ie the market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or liability) or, in 

the absence of such a market, the most advantageous market available to the entity at the end of 

the reporting period (ie the market that maximises the receipts from the sale of the asset or 

minimises the payments made to transfer the liability, after taking into account transaction costs and 

transport costs). 

 For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant’s 

ability to use the asset in its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that 

would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

 The fair value of liabilities and the entity’s own equity instruments (excluding those related to share-

based payment arrangements) may be valued, where there is no observable market price in relation 

to the transfer of such financial instruments, by reference to observable market information where 

such instruments are held as assets. Where this information is not available, other valuation 

techniques are adopted and, where significant, are detailed in the respective note to the financial 

statements. 
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

c. Property, Plant and Equipment 

 Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated less, where 

applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

d. Exploration, Evaluation and Development Expenditure 

Costs incurred during exploration and evaluations relating to an area of interest are accumulated. 

Costs are carried forward to the extent they are expected to be recouped through successful 

development, or by sale, or where exploration and evaluation activities have not yet reached a 

stage to allow a reasonable assessment regarding the existence of economically recoverable 

reserves.  In these instances, the entity must have rights of tenure to the area of interest and must 

be continuing to undertake exploration operations in the area. 

Accumulated costs carried forward in respect of an area of interest that is abandoned are written off 

in full against profit in the year in which the decision to abandon the area is made. When production 

commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest will be amortised over the life of 

the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves.   

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of 

continuing to capitalise costs in relation to that area of interest. 

Costs of site restoration are provided over the life of the project from when exploration commences 

and are included in the costs of that stage. Site restoration costs include the dismantling and 

removal of mining plant, equipment and building structures, waste removal, and rehabilitation of the 

site in accordance with clauses of the mining permits. Such costs have been estimated of future 

costs, current legal requirements and technology on an undiscounted basis. 

e. Leases (the Company as Lessee) 

 At inception of a contract, the Group assesses if the contract contains or is a lease.  If there is a 

lease present, a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability is recognised by the Group 

where the Group is a lessee.  However, all contracts that are classified as short-term leases (lease 

with a remaining lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets are recognised as 

an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

 Initially the lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments still to be paid at 
commencement date.  The lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease.  
If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate. 

 Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are as follows: 

 – fixed lease payments less any lease incentives; 

 – variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index 

or rate at the commencement date; 

 – the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 

 – the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the 

options; 

 – lease payments under extension options if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the 

options; and 

 – payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an 

option to terminate the lease. 

 The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability as 

mentioned above, any lease payments made at or before the commencement date as well as any 

initial direct costs. The subsequent measurement of the right-of-use assets is at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

 Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term or useful life of the underlying asset 

whichever is the shortest. Where a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of 

the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group anticipates to exercise a purchase option, the specific 

asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. 

 The Company does not act as a lessor in relation to lease contracts. 
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

f. Financial Instruments 

 Initial recognition and measurement 

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the 

Company commits itself to either the purchase or the sale of the asset (ie trade date accounting is 

adopted). 

 Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are initially measured at fair value plus 

transaction costs, except where the instrument is classified "at fair value through profit or loss", in 

which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Where available, quoted 

prices in an active market are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation 

techniques are adopted. 

 Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the trade receivables do not 

contain a significant financing component or if the practical expedient was applied as specified in 

paragraph 63 of AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers. 

 Classification and subsequent measurement 

 Financial liabilities 

 Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at: 

 – amortised cost; or 

 – fair value through profit and loss. 

 A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit and loss if the financial liability is: 

 – a contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3: 

Business Combinations applies; 

 – held for trading; or 

 – initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 

 All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method. 

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and 

of allocating interest expense to profit or loss over the relevant period. 

 The effective interest rate is the internal rate of return of the financial asset or liability. That is, it is 

the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the 

instrument to the net carrying amount at initial recognition. 

 A financial liability is held for trading if it is: 

 – incurred for the purpose of repurchasing or repaying in the near term; 

 – part of a portfolio where there is an actual pattern of short-term profit taking; or 

 – a derivative financial instrument (except for a derivative that is in a financial guarantee 

contract or a derivative that is in an effective hedging relationship). 

 Any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss to the extent that 

they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. 

 The change in fair value of the financial liability attributable to changes in the issuer's credit risk is 

taken to other comprehensive income and is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Instead, 

it is transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability. 

 If taking the change in credit risk to other comprehensive income enlarges or creates an accounting 

mismatch, these gains or losses should be taken to profit or loss rather than other comprehensive 

income. 

 A financial liability cannot be reclassified. 
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 Financial guarantee contracts 

 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to 

reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due 

in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. 

 Financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at fair value (if not designated as at fair value 

through profit or loss and not arising from a transfer of a financial asset) and subsequently 

measured at the higher of: 

 – the amount of loss allowance determined in accordance with AASB 9.3.25.3; and 

 – the amount initially recognised less the accumulative amount of income recognised in 

accordance with the revenue recognition policies. 

 Financial assets 

 Financial assets are subsequently measured at: 

 – amortised cost; 

 – fair value through other comprehensive income; or 

 – fair value through profit or loss. 

 Measurement is on the basis of two primary criteria: 

 – the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset; and 

 – the business model for managing the financial assets. 

 A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at amortised cost: 

 – the financial asset is managed solely to collect contractual cash flows; and 

 – the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates. 

 A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at fair value through 

other comprehensive income: 

 – the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates; 

and 

 – the business model for managing the financial asset comprises both contractual cash flows 

collection and the selling of the financial asset. 

 By default, all other financial assets that do not meet the measurement conditions of amortised cost 

and fair value through other comprehensive income are subsequently measured at fair value 

through profit or loss. 

 The Company initially designates a financial instrument as measured at fair value through profit or 

loss if: 

 – it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (often 

referred to as an “accounting mismatch”) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets 

or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases; 

 – it is in accordance with the documented risk management or investment strategy and 

information about the groupings is documented appropriately, so the performance of the 

financial liability that is part of a group of financial liabilities or financial assets can be 

managed and evaluated consistently on a fair value basis; and 

 – it is a hybrid contract that contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the 

cash flows otherwise required by the contract. 

 The initial measurement of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss is a one-time 

option on initial classification and is irrevocable until the financial asset is derecognised. 
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 Derecognition 

 Derecognition refers to the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability 

from the statement of financial position. 

 Derecognition of financial liabilities 

 A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (ie when the obligation in the contract is 

discharged, cancelled or expires). An exchange of an existing financial liability for a new one with 

substantially modified terms, or a substantial modification to the terms of a financial liability, is 

treated as an extinguishment of the existing liability and recognition of a new financial liability. 

 The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 

consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 

recognised in profit or loss. 

 Derecognition of financial assets 

 A financial asset is derecognised when the holder's contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or 

the asset is transferred in such a way that all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially 

transferred. 

 All the following criteria need to be satisfied for the derecognition of a financial asset: 

 – the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred; 

 – all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred; and 

 – the Company no longer controls the asset (ie it has no practical ability to make unilateral 

decisions to sell the asset to a third party). 

 On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the 

asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in 

profit or loss. 

 On derecognition of a debt instrument classified as fair value through other comprehensive income, 

the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is 

reclassified to profit or loss. 

 On derecognition of an investment in equity that the Company elected to classify as at fair value 

through other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the 

investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained 

earnings. 

 Impairment 

 The Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on: 

 – financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other 

comprehensive income; 

 – lease receivables; and 

 – loan commitments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 Loss allowance is not recognised for: 

 – financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss; or 

 – equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

 Expected credit losses are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life 

of a financial instrument. A credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are 

due and all cash flows expected to be received, all discounted at the original effective interest rate 

of the financial instrument. 

 The Company uses the following approaches to impairment, as applicable under AASB 9: Financial 

Instruments: 

 – the general approach; 

 – the simplified approach; 

 – the purchased or originated credit-impaired approach; and 

 – low credit risk operational simplification. 
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 General approach 

 Under the general approach, at each reporting period, the Company assesses whether the financial 

instruments are credit-impaired, and: 

 – if the credit risk of the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, 

the Company measures the loss allowance of the financial instruments at an amount equal 

to the lifetime expected credit losses; and 

 – if there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Company 

measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month 

expected credit losses. 

 Simplified approach 

 The simplified approach does not require tracking of changes in credit risk at every reporting period, 

but instead requires the recognition of lifetime expected credit loss at all times. 

 This approach is applicable to: 

 – trade receivables or contract assets that result from transactions that are within the scope of 

AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and which do not contain a significant 

financing component; and 

 – lease receivables. 

 In measuring the expected credit loss, a provision matrix for trade receivables is used, taking into 

consideration various data to get to an expected credit loss (ie diversity of its customer base, 

appropriate groupings of its historical loss experience, etc). 

g. Impairment of Assets 

 At the end of each reporting period, the company assesses whether there is any indication that an 

asset may be impaired. The assessment will include considering external sources of information 

and internal sources of information, including dividends received from subsidiaries, associates or 

joint ventures deemed to be out of pre-acquisition profits. If such an indication exists, an impairment 

test is carried out on the asset by comparing the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher 

of the asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, to the asset’s carrying amount. Any 

excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable amount is recognised immediately in 

profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount in accordance with another Standard 

(eg in accordance with the revaluation model in AASB 116: Property, Plant and Equipment). Any 

impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease in accordance with that 

other Standard. 

 Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company 

estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

 Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite lives and 

intangible assets not yet available for use. 

 When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-

generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the 

increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 

had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A 

reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset 

is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a 

revaluation increase. 

h. Employee Benefits 

 Short-term employee benefits 

 Provision is made for the Company’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term 

employee benefits are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled 

wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render 

the related service, including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits are 

measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled. 
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 The Company’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick 

leave are recognised as part of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial 

position. 

 Other long-term employee benefits 

 Provision is made for employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected to 

be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the 

employees render the related service. Other long-term employee benefits are measured at the 

present value of the expected future payments to be made to employees. Expected future 

payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee 

departures and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of the 

reporting period on government bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the terms of the 

obligations. Upon the remeasurement of obligations for other long-term employee benefits, the net 

change in the obligation is recognised in profit or loss as part of employee benefits expense. 

 The Company’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current 

provisions in its statement of financial position, except where the Company does not have an 

unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period, in 

which case the obligations are presented as current provisions. 

 

i. Share based payments 

The Company measures the cost of equity settled transactions by reference to the fair value of the 

equity instrument at the date at which they are granted (for employees) or their measurement date 

(for other service providers).  

For Options, the fair value is determined by an internal valuation using a Black Scholes option 

pricing model. The valuation relies on the use of certain assumptions. If the assumptions were to 

change, there may by an impact on the amounts reported. For ordinary shares which are traded on 

the stock exchange, the fair value is determined by reference to the closing price of the security on 

the measurement date. 

j. Provisions 

 Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of 

past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result, and that outflow 

can be reliably measured. Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amounts required to 

settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period. 

k. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term 

highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank 

overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 

l. Trade and Other Payables 

 Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the entity that 

remain unpaid at the end of the reporting period. The balance is recognised as a current liability 

with the amounts normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability. 

 Trade and other payables are initially measured their fair value and subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

m. Borrowing Costs 

 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that 

necessarily take a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale are added to 

the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use 

or sale. 

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

n. Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the 

amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 

 Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 

amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or 

payables in the statement of financial position. 

 Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 

investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented 

as operating cash flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers. 

o. Comparative Figures 

 When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to 

changes in presentation for the current financial year. 

 Where the company retrospectively applies an accounting policy, makes a retrospective 

restatement or reclassifies items in its financial statements, a third statement of financial position as 

at the beginning of the preceding period in addition to the minimum comparative financial 

statements is presented. 

p. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements 

 The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based 

on historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable 

expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both 

externally and within the company. 

q. Key estimates 

  Impairment 

  The Company assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating the 

conditions and events specific to the Company that may be indicative of impairment triggers. 
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NOTE 2: REVENUE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

  30 June  

2022 

30 June  

2021 

  $ $ 

Interest received  5,008 53 

 

NOTE 3: TAX EXPENSE 

  30 June  

2022 

30 June 

2021 

  $ $ 

a.  The components of tax (expense) income comprise:    

 Current tax  - - 

 Deferred tax  - - 

  - - 

b. The prima facie tax benefit on loss before income tax is 

reconciled to income tax as follows: 

 

   

 Loss from continuing operations  694,264 730,062 

 Prima facie tax benefit on loss before income tax at 25.0% 

(2021: 26.0%) 

 173,566 189,816 

     

 Less:    

 Tax effect of:    

 – Deferred tax assets not recognised  (173,566) (189,816) 

 Income tax attributable to entity  - - 

 The weighted average effective tax rates are as follows:  25.0% 26.0% 

 Deferred tax assets have not been recognized as they are 

not considered to have met the recognition criteria. 

   

  

NOTE 4: AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 

  30 June  

2022 

30 June 

2021 

  $ $ 

Remuneration of the auditor:    

auditing or reviewing the financial statements  26,000 13,618 

preparation of Independent Limited Assurance Report  - 9,500 

   26,000 23,118 

The auditor of Burley Minerals is Hall Chadwick WA Audit Pty Ltd. 
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NOTE 5: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

  30 June  

2022 

30 June  

2021 

  $ $ 

Cash at bank and on hand  4,062,783 6,210,402 

 

NOTE 6: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

  30 June  

2022 

30 June  

2021 

  $ $ 

CURRENT    

GST receivable  19,608 86,887 

Prepayments  3,217 27,208 

Total current trade and other receivables  22,825 114,095 

 

NOTE 7: PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

  30 June  

2022 

30 June  

2021 

  $ $ 

Office Furniture and Equipment    

At cost  11,278 - 

Accumulated depreciation  (3,554) - 

Total plant and equipment  7,724 - 

 

  30 June  

2022 

30 June  

2021 

  $ $ 

Office Furniture and Equipment    

- Balance at the beginning of the year  - - 

- Additions  11,278 - 

- Disposals/write offs  - - 

- Depreciation  (3,554) - 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  7,724 - 
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Note 8: EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS   

  30 June  

2022 

30 June  

2021 

  $ $ 

NON-CURRENT    

Costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in:    

Exploration and evaluation phases at cost    

- Beginning of the year  65,000 - 

- Additions  5,728,413 65,000 

End of the year  5,793,413 65,000 

    

Movement – exploration and evaluation    

Brought forward  65,000 - 

    

- Acquisition of 70% of Novarange Pty Ltd (i)  4,026,552 - 

- Stamp duty on acquisition  439,000 - 

- Exploration and evaluation expenditure for the year  1,262,861 65,000 

Exploration and evaluation phases at cost  5,793,413 65,000 

 
The value of the Company’s interest in exploration expenditure is dependent upon: 
 
- the continuance of the Company’s rights to tenure of the areas of interest; 
- the results of future exploration; and 
- the recoupment of costs through successful development and exploitation of the areas of interest, or 

alternatively, by their sale. 

 
 

 

Burley completed the acquisition of 70% of the issued capital of Novarange Pty Ltd which owns 100% of the 

Yerecoin Project near New Norcia, Western Australia (Project) by paying the Vendors $100,000 and issuing 

20,000,000 Shares (Acquisition) on 1 July 2021. 

The Vendors have a free carried interest in the Project until the completion of a Bankable Feasibility Study, at 

which time each party will need to fund their proportionate expenditure. 



Burley Minerals Ltd Annual Report 2022 

30 

 

 

Note 8: EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS   

Acquisition of 70% of Novarange Pty Ltd 

 Carrying value 

amount before 

acquisition 

$ 

 

Fair value of shares issued 4,000,000  

Cash 100,000  

Consideration 4,100,000  

   

Assets acquired 365,948  

Liabilities assumed (261,022)  

Net assets  104,926  

Less non controlled interest (30%) (31,478)  

Net Assets Acquired 73,448  

   

Amount recognised as exploration and evaluation expenditure on acquisition 4,026,552  

The following deferred consideration is also payable to the existing Shareholders by Burley meeting the 

following milestones in relation to the Project: 

i. a total payment of $1,000,000 to the Vendors (and/or their nominees) within 30 Business Days 

after the completion by Burley of a successful Preliminary Feasibility Study that demonstrates 

extraction of minerals from the Tenements to be viable under reasonable financial assumptions 

(First Deferred Payment); 

ii. a total payment of $1,000,000 to the Vendors (and/or their nominees) within 30 Business Days 

after the grant of a mining lease under the Mining Act over all of the Iron Ore resource identified 

within the Tenement Area as at the Commencement Date (Second Deferred Payment); and 

iii.  a total payment to the Vendors (and/or their nominees) of $2,500,000 within 30 Business Days 

after the first occasion of commercial Iron Ore production from the Tenements provided always 

that if this production milestone is achieved within two (2) years of the Admission Date, this 

payment will only be payable 30 Business Days after the expiration of that two (2) year period 

(Third Deferred Payment). 

The Deferred Payments which may become due and payable pursuant to any of the above milestones 

must only be satisfied by the issue and allotment of Purchaser Shares to each Vendor and/or its 

nominee(s). 

The number of Purchaser Shares to be issued under this Agreement to satisfy any of the Deferred 

Payments will be calculated by dividing the amount of the corresponding Deferred Payment by the higher 

of: 

a) the volume weighted average price for Purchaser Shares traded on the ASX over the 15 

Trading Days prior to the date on which the payment becomes due and payable; and  

b) the Floor Price, being $0.15. 

No value has been attributed to the deferred consideration as the Directors do not currently have 

reasonable grounds on which to assess the likelihood of these non-market vesting conditions being met. 
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NOTE 8A: OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

  30 June  

2022 

30 June  

2021 

  $ $ 

    

Consideration paid for acquisition  - 4,000,000 

     

On 29 June 2021 the Company issued 20,000,000 new ordinary 

fully paid shares in the capital of the Company at a deemed issue 

price of $0.20 per share as consideration for the acquisition of 70% 

of the issued capital of Novarange Pty Ltd.  The acquisition settled 

on 1 July 2021 

   

 

NOTE 9: LOAN RECEIVABLE 

  30 June  

2022 

30 June  

2021 

  $ $ 

NON-CURRENT    

Unrelated parties:    

Loan receivable from Novarange Pty Ltd  - 261,022 

     

The Loan incurred no interest. The Company completed the 

acquisition of 70% of the issued capital of Novarange Pty Ltd on 1 

July 2021. 

   

    

NOTE 10: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 Note 30 June  

2022 

30 June  

2021 

  $ $ 

CURRENT    

Unsecured liabilities:    

Trade payables    

 Trade and other payables:  551,701 729,538 

 

NOTE 11: PROVISIONS 

 Note 30 June  

2022 

30 June  

2021 

  $ $ 

CURRENT    

Unsecured liabilities:    

Provisions    

 Provision for annual leave:  9,861 - 
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NOTE 12: ISSUED CAPITAL 

  30 June 

2022 

30 June  

2021 

  $ $ 

61,000,001 fully paid ordinary shares  10,496,630 10,496,630 

  

a. Ordinary Share Movements  

  30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2021 

30 June 

2021 

  Number $ Number $ 

      

Balance at the beginning of the year  61,000,001 10,496,630 1 1 

Issue of shares at $0.08 each (i) - -- 8,000,000 640,000 

Issue of shares to directors and 
management at $0.08 each 

(ii) - - 1,750,000 140,000 

Issue of shares at $0.16 each (iii) -  1,250,000 200,000 

Issue of shares at $0.20 each (iv)  -- 30,000,000 6,000,000 

Issue of shares at $0.20 each (v) -  20,000,000 4,000,000 

Costs of the issue of shares   -  (483,371) 

Balance at the end of the period  61,000,001 10,496,630 61,000,001 10,496,630 

 

(i) On 11 November 2020 the Company issued 8,000,000 new ordinary fully paid shares in the capital 
of the Company at an issue price of $0.08 per share. 

(ii) On 24 November 2020 the Company issued 1,750,000 new ordinary fully paid shares in the capital 
of the Company at a deemed issue price of $0.08 per share. 

(iii) On 13 April 2021 the Company issued 1,250,000 new ordinary fully paid shares in the capital of the 
Company at an issue price of $0.16 per share. 

(iv) On 29 June 2021 the Company issued 30,000,000 new ordinary fully paid shares in the capital of 
the Company at an issue price of $0.20 per share. 

(v) On 29 June 2021 the Company issued 20,000,000 new ordinary fully paid shares in the capital of 
the Company at a deemed issue price of $0.20 per share as consideration for the acquisition of 
Novarange Pty Ltd.  The acquisition settled on 1 July 2021. 

 

Ordinary shareholders participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in 

proportion to the number of shares held. 

 At the shareholders’ meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called; 

otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands. 

b.  Capital Management 

 Management controls the capital of the Company in order to maintain a good debt to equity ratio, 

provide the shareholders with adequate returns and ensure that the Company can fund its 

operations and continue as a going concern. 

 The Company’s debt and capital include ordinary share capital and financial liabilities, supported 

by financial assets. 

 There are no externally imposed capital requirements. 

 Management effectively manages the Company’s capital by assessing the Company’s financial 

risks and adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. 

These responses include the management of debt levels, distributions to shareholders and share 

issues. 
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NOTE 12: ISSUED CAPITAL 

c. Options Movement 

 
Exercise Period Exercise 

Price 
Number on issue 

at 1 July 2021 
Issued 

during the 
Period 

Exercised/ 
Expired/ 

Cancelled 

Number on 
issue at 30 June 

2022 
      

On or before 7 July 2023 $0.30 8,000,000 - (1,750,000) 6,250,000 

On or before 7 July 2024 $0.45 2,000,000 - (2,000,000) - 

On or before 30 September 2023 $0.30 - 1,100,000 - 1,100,000 

Total options  10,000,000 1,100,000 (3,750,000)- 7,350,000 

(i) 1,100,000 options were issued to consultants on 3 September 2021 pursuant to the Company’s Securities Incentive 
Plan.  The options are exercisable at $0.30 on or before 30 September 2023. 

(ii) 3,750,000 Options were cancelled during the year. 

Allottee 
Number of 

Options 

Fair Value at 
Grant Date 
per Option 

Estimated 
Volatility 

Life of 
Option 

(years) 
Exercise 

Price 
Share Price 

at Grant Date 

Risk Free 

Interest Rate 

        

Consultants 1,100,000 $0.1145 75% 2.07 $0.30 $0.285 1.0% 

 

Exercise Period Exercise 
Price 

Number on 
issue at 29 

October 2020 

Issued during 
the Period 

Exercised/ 
Expired/ 

Cancelled 

Number on 
issue at 30 
June 2021 

      

On or before 7 July 2023 $0.30 - 8,000,000 - 8,000,000 

On or before 7 July 2024 $0.45 - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 

Total options  - 10,000,000 - 10,000,000 

      

(iii) 6,000,000 options were issued to directors on 24 November 2020 pursuant to respective engagement 
agreements.  4,000,000 of the Options are exercisable at $0.30 on or before the date that is two years after the 
date the Company is admitted to ASX.  2,000,000 of the Options are exercisable at $0.45 on or before the date 
that is three years after the date the Company was admitted to ASX (7 July 2021) 

(iv) 2,500,000 Options were issued to Warrior Strategic Pty Ltd on 24 November 2020 pursuant to the engagement 
agreement.  The Options are exercisable at $0.30 on or before the date that is two years after the date the 
Company was admitted to ASX (7 July 2021) 

(v) 1,500,000 Options were issued to CG Nominees Ltd on 29 June 2021 pursuant to the Lead Manager Mandate.  
The Options are exercisable at $0.30 on or before the date that is two years after the date the Company was 
admitted to ASX (7 July 2021) 

Allottee 
Number of 

Options 

Fair Value 
at Grant 
Date per 

Option 
Estimated 

Volatility 

Life of 
Option 

(years) 
Exercise 

Price 

Share Price 
at Grant 

Date 

Risk Free 

Interest Rate 

        

Directors 4,000,000 $0.0076 75% 2.00 $0.30 $0.08 0.1% 

Directors 2,000,000 $0.0091 75% 3.00 $0.45 $0.08 0.1% 

Consultants 2,500,000 $0.0076 75% 2.00 $0.30 $0.08 0.1% 

Lead Manager 1,500,000 $0.0577 75% 2.00 $0.30 $0.20 0.1% 
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Note 12: Issued Capital 

 

d. Performance rights issued to Wayne Richards 

 

On 9 February 2022, the Company appointed Mr Wayne Richards as Managing Director.  Mr Richards’ 

remuneration included performance rights as follows and on the terms and conditions outlined in the 

Burley Securities Incentive Plan: 

• 750,000 subject to: 

(a) the CEO having completed 12 months continued service; and 

(b) the Company Share price achieves a 15-day VWAP price milestone of at least $0.40 per 
share within two years of signing the Employment Agreement (i.e. 12 December 2023); 

• 750,000 after the grant of a mining lease(s) under the Mining Act over at least 50% of the iron 
resource identified within the Tenement area as at 29 October 2020; 

• 750,000 after the completion by Burley of a successful Preliminary Feasibility Study (as 
defined in the Acquisition Agreement) that demonstrates extraction of minerals from the 
Tenements to be viable under reasonable financial assumptions; and 

• 750,000 upon the first occasion of commercial iron ore production. 

 

Tranche #1 performance rights have been valued via the Hoadleys Model at a total of $16,500 with 

$4,125 being expensed in the 30 June 2022 financial year.  

Given the delayed access to the tenements owned by the Company for on-going activities and drilling 

programmes (including studies), the Board is of the opinion that the three non-market vesting conditions 

outlined above are unlikely to be met before the expiry date of these Performance Rights (being 12 

December 2023. 

 

e. Option Reserve   

 

30 June 2022 

$ 

30 June 2021 

$ 

Opening balance 154,413 - 

Share based payments 130,104 154,413 

Cancelled options (31,638) - 

Closing balance 252,879 154,413 
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NOTE 13.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

The following deferred consideration is payable to the existing Shareholders of Novarange Pty Ltd 

(Vendor) subject to the satisfaction of the following milestones in relation to the Yerecoin Project:  

  

a) a total payment of $1,000,000 to the Vendors (and/or their nominees) within 30 Business Days 

after the completion by Burley of a successful Preliminary Feasibility Study that demonstrates 

extraction of minerals from the Tenements to be viable under reasonable financial assumptions 

(First Deferred Payment); 

b) a total payment of $1,000,000 to the Vendors (and/or their nominees) within 30 Business Days 

after the grant of a mining lease under the Mining Act over all of the Iron Ore resource identified 

within the Tenement Area as at the Commencement Date (Second Deferred Payment); and 

c) a total payment to the Vendors (and/or their nominees) of $2,500,000 within 30 Business Days 

after the first occasion of commercial Iron Ore production from the Tenements provided always 

that if this production milestone is achieved within two (2) years of the Admission Date, this 

payment will only be payable 30 Business Days after the expiration of that two (2) year period 

(Third Deferred Payment). 

The Deferred Payments which may become due and payable pursuant to any of the above milestones 

must only be satisfied by the issue and allotment of Burley Shares to each Vendor and/or its nominee(s).   

The number of Burley Shares to be issued under this Agreement to satisfy any of the Deferred Payments 

will be calculated by dividing the amount of the corresponding Deferred Payment by the higher of: 

a) the volume weighted average price for Burley Shares traded on the ASX over the 15 Trading 

Days prior to the date on which the payment becomes due and payable; and  

b) the Floor Price, being $0.15. 

Upon Completion of the Novarange Acquisition, the Company will assume the following contingent liabilities: 

a. Royalty Payable to Radar Iron Ltd (now known as Weebit Nano Ltd) 

The Company will assume Novarange’s obligation to make a one-off payment of $0.05 per tonne on 

reserve tonnes at the commencement of economic mining from the Tenements, or any substitution or 

replacement of the Tenements.   

The Company will also assume Novarange’s third-party obligations in respect of the Tenements 

comprising the Giralia Royalty and indemnity to Radar Iron Ltd (now known as Weebit Nano Ltd) for any 

loss it suffers with respect to that royalty.  The Company will also assume Novarange’s obligations to 

Weebit Nano Limited under private land access agreements which were provided to Novarange on or 

before the date of the (Radar/Weebit/Novarange) Sale Deed. 

b. Royalty payable to Giralia Resources Pty Ltd 

The Company will assume Novarange’s obligation to pay within 30 days of a decision to commence 

mining operations on the Tenements, amounts equal to: 

1. $0.10 per tonne for each tonne of magnetite proven in a Reserve within the Tenements or, if 

not proven in Reserve, mined or to be mined as a Resource, exceeding 187,000,000 tonnes; 

and 

2. $0.50 per tonne for each tonne of direct shipping hematite iron ore proven in a Reserve within 

the Tenements, or if not proven in Reserve, mined or to be mined as a Resource, exceeding 

5,000,000 tonnes, 

limited to a maximum of 200,000,000 tonnes of Reserve or tonnes mined or to be mined as a 

Resource.  

 

Other than the above, there are no contingent liabilities that may become payable.  The Company is not aware of 
any potential or apparent exposure to any environmental or social risks not otherwise disclosed in its Prospectus 
dated 26 May 2021. 
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NOTE 14: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Related Parties 

The Company’s main related parties are as follows: 

a. Entities Exercising Control over the Company 

 The directors, being Mr Bryan Dixon, Mr Jeff Brill and Mr Wayne Richards and their controlled 

entities. 

b. Key Management Personnel 

 Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities 

of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that 

entity is considered key management personnel. 

 The three continuing directors, as detailed above. 

c. Entities Subject to Significant Influence by the Company 

 An entity that has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity, 

but does not have control over those policies, is an entity that holds significant influence.  Significant 

influence may be gained by share ownership, statute or agreement. 

 None. 

d. Other Related Parties 

 Other related parties include close family members of key management personnel and entities that 

are controlled or jointly controlled by those key management personnel, individually or collectively 

with their close family members. 

Transactions with Related Parties 

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable 

than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 

The following transactions occurred with related parties: 

Employment  Agreement with Managing Director 

The employment conditions of Mr Wayne Richards (appointed CEO on 4 January 2022 and joint CEO and 
MD on 9 February 2022) were formalised in a Letter of Offer.  This employment Agreement commenced 
incorporates an annual review encompassing  a minimum increase in salary  based upon the prevailing CPI 
in June and December each year.  The employment Agreement provided Mr Richards a commencement 
annual  salary of $290,000 from 9 February 2022. (inclusive of Superannuation).  Long-term incentives in 
the form of Performance Rights were issued in accordance with the following criteria: 

• 750,000 subject to: 

(a)  the CEO having completed 12 months continued service; and 

(b)  the Company Share price achieves a 15-day VWAP price milestone of at least $0.40 per 
 share within two years of signing the Employment Agreement (i.e. 12 December 2023; 

• 750,000 after the grant of a mining lease(s) under the Mining Act over at least 50% of the 
iron resource identified within the Tenement area as at 29 October 2020; 

• 750,000 after the completion by Burley of a successful Preliminary Feasibility Study (as 
defined in the Acquisition Agreement) that demonstrates extraction of minerals from the 
Tenements to be viable under reasonable financial assumptions; and 

• 750,000 upon the first occasion of commercial iron ore production. 
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NOTE 14: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Non-Executive Director Agreements 

An annual fee is be paid to each of the continuing Non-Executive Directors as follows:  

• $70,000 payable to Mr Bryan Dixon; and 

• $40,000 payable to Mr Jeff Brill. 
 

In addition to the base fee, Mr Dixon was entitled to and was paid a bonus of $50,000 for the successful 
ASX Admission of the Company.  The Company was Listed on 7 July 2021. 

• Mr Powell’s annual remuneration package under the Consultancy Agreement was 
$250,000 (excluding GST).  Mr Powell resigned as a director on 9 February 2022. 

Consultancy Agreement with Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 

Burley has contracted Warrior Strategic Pty Ltd as its Company Secretary, Chief Financial Officer and 
Taxation Public Officer and business development functions on a consulting basis.  Warrior Strategic Pty 
Ltd was paid a total of $119,949 (2021: $108,905) for the year.  Other than the above, there were no 
related party transactions during the financial period or to the date of this financial report. 

 
 

Key management personnel Remuneration 

  30 June  

2022 

30 June  

2021 

  $ $ 

 Salaries and fees  478,569 64,167 

 Share based payments  4,125 207,923 

 Total remuneration  482,694 272,090 

 

NOTE 15: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial period which significantly affected 

or could significantly affect the operations of the company, the results of those operations or the state of 

affairs of the Company in future financial years. 

 

NOTE 16: CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

  30 June  

2022 

30 June  

2021 

  $ $ 

 Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

with Loss after Income Tax 

   

 Loss after income tax  (694,264) (730,062) 

 Non-cash items    

 - Depreciation expense  3,554 - 

 - Share based payments  98,466 207,922 

 Changes in assets and liabilities    

 – (increase) in trade and other receivables  94,488 (114,095) 

 – increase in trade and other payables  (267,929) 340,038 

 Net cash used in operating activities  (765,685) (296,197) 
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NOTE 17: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Company’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money market 

instruments, short-term investments, accounts receivable and payable, bank loans and overdrafts. 

The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 9: Financial 

Instruments as detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows: 

 

 Note 30 June  

2022 

30 June  

2021 

  $ $ 

Financial assets    

Financial assets at amortised cost:    

– cash and cash equivalents 5 4,062,783 6,210,402 

– trade and other receivables 6 22,825 114,095 

– loan receivable 9 - 261,022 

Total financial assets  4,085,608 6,585,519 

Financial liabilities    

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:    

– trade and other payables 10 551,701 729,538 

Total financial liabilities  551,701 729,538 

 

 

Financial Risk Management Policies 

The directors’ overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the Company in meeting its financial 

targets, while minimising potential adverse effects on financial performance. Risk management policies are 

approved and reviewed by the Board of Directors on a regular basis. These include the credit risk policies 

and future cash flow requirements. 

The main purpose of non-derivative financial instruments is to raise finance for company operations. The 

Company does not have any derivative instruments at 30 June 2022. 

 

Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management 

The main risks the Company is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and 

market risk relating to interest rate risk and other price risk. 

There have been no substantive changes in the types of risks the Company is exposed to, how these risks 

arise, or the Board’s objectives, policies and processes for managing or measuring the risks from the 

previous period. 

a. Credit Risk 

 Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by 

counterparties of contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the Company. 

 Credit risk is managed through maintaining procedures ensuring, to the extent possible, that 

customers and counterparties to transactions are of sound credit worthiness, which includes the 

utilisation of systems for the approval, granting and renewal of credit limits, the regular monitoring 

of exposures against such limits and the monitoring of the financial stability of significant customers 

and counterparties. Such monitoring is used in assessing receivables for impairment. Depending 

on the division within the Company, credit terms are generally 14 to 30 days from the date of 

invoice.  
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NOTE 17: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 Risk is also minimised through investing surplus funds in financial institutions that maintain a high 

credit rating or in entities that the finance committee has otherwise cleared as being financially 

sound. Where the Company is unable to ascertain a satisfactory credit risk profile in relation to a 

customer or counterparty, the risk may be further managed through title retention clauses over 

goods or obtaining security by way of personal or commercial guarantees over assets of sufficient 

value which can be claimed against in the event of any default. 

 Credit risk exposures 

 The maximum exposure to credit risk by class of recognised financial assets at the end of the 

reporting period, excluding the value of any collateral or other security held, is equivalent to the 

carrying amount and classification of those financial assets (net of any provisions) as presented in 

the statement of financial position. Credit risk also arises through the provision of financial 

guarantees, as approved at board level, given to third parties in relation to obligations under its 

bank bill facility. 

 The Company has no significant concentrations of credit risk with any single counterparty or group 

of counterparties.  
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NOTE 17: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

b. Liquidity Risk 

 Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Company might encounter difficulty in settling its 

debts or otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. The Company manages this 

risk through the following mechanisms: 

 – preparing forward-looking cash flow analyses in relation to its operating, investing and 

financing activities; 

 – using derivatives that are only traded in highly liquid markets; 

 – monitoring undrawn credit facilities; 

 – obtaining funding from a variety of sources; 

 – maintaining a reputable credit profile; 

 – managing credit risk related to financial assets; 

 – only investing surplus cash with major financial institutions; and 

 – comparing the maturity profile of financial liabilities with the realisation profile of financial 

assets. 

 The following table reflects an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for non-derivative 

financial liabilities. Bank overdrafts have been deducted in the analysis as management does not 

consider that there is any material risk that the bank will terminate such facilities. The bank does, 

however, maintain the right to terminate the facilities without notice and therefore the balances of 

overdrafts outstanding at year-end could become repayable within 12 months. The Company does 

not hold any derivative financial liabilities directly. 

 Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management’s expectation as to the timing of 

realisation. Actual timing may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows 

presented in the table to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates 

and does not reflect management’s expectations that banking facilities will be rolled forward. 

 

 

 Within 1 Year 2 to 5 Years Over 5 Years Total 

 30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2022 

$ $ $ $ 

Financial liabilities due for payment     

Trade and other payables 551,701 - - 551,701 

Total contractual outflows 551,701 - - 551,701 

Total expected outflows 551,701 - - 551,701 

     

Financial assets – cash flows 

realisable 

    

Cash and cash equivalents 4,062,783 - - 4,062,783 

Trade and other receivables 22,825 - - 22,825 

Loan receivable -   - 

Total anticipated inflows  4,085,608 - - 4,085,608 

Net inflow on financial instruments 

 

3,533,907 

 

- 

 

- 

 

3,533,907 
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NOTE 17: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

b.  Liquidity Risk (Cont.) 

 Within 1 Year 2 to 5 Years Over 5 Years Total 

 30 June 

2021 

30 June 

2021 

30 June 

2021 

30 June 

2021 

$ $ $ $ 

Financial liabilities due for payment     

Trade and other payables 729,538 - - 729,538 

Total contractual outflows 729,538 - - 729,538 

Total expected outflows 729,538 - - 729,538 

     

Financial assets – cash flows 

realisable 

    

Cash and cash equivalents 6,210,402 - - 6,210,402 

Trade and other receivables 114,095 - - 114,095 

Loan receivable 261,022   261,022 

Total anticipated inflows  6,585,519 - - 6,585,519 

Net inflow on financial instruments 

 

5,855,981 

 

- 

 

- 

 

5,855,981 

 

c. Market Risk 

 (i) Interest rate risk 

  Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at 

the end of the reporting period, whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future 

cash flows or the fair value of fixed rate financial instruments. The Company is also exposed 

to earnings volatility on floating rate instruments. The financial instruments that expose the 

Company to interest rate risk are limited to borrowings, listed shares, and cash and cash 

equivalents. 

  Interest rate risk is managed using a mix of fixed and floating rate debt and the Company 

enters into interest rate swaps to convert the majority of debt to fixed rate.  At 30 June 2022, 

approximately 100% of company debt is fixed.  It is the policy of the company to keep 

100% of debt on fixed interest rates. 

  The Company also manages interest rate risk by ensuring that, whenever possible, payables 

are paid within any pre-agreed credit terms. 

  The net effective variable interest rate borrowings (ie unhedged debt) expose the Company 

to interest rate risk, which will impact future cash flows and interest charges and is indicated 

by the following floating interest rate financial liabilities: 

 (ii) Other price risk 

  Other price risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 

instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from 

interest rate risk or currency risk) of securities held. 

  Such risk is managed through diversification of investments across industries and 

geographic locations. 
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18. CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

 

 Country of 
Incorporation 

Percentage Owned 

  2022 2021 

Burley Minerals Limited (Parent Entity) Australia   

Novarange Pty Ltd (Controlled Entity) Australia 70% - 

 

19. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 

 30 June 

2022 

$ 

30 June 

2021 

$ 

(a) Statement of financial position 

Assets    

Current assets  4,067,928 6,324,497 

Non-current assets  5,794,862 4,326,022 

Total assets  9,862,790 10,650,519 

    
Liabilities    

Current liabilities  522,703 729,538 

Non-current liabilities 
 - - 

Total liabilities 
 530,155 729,538 

Net Assets  9,325,183 9,920,981 

    
Equity    

Issued capital  10,496,630 10,496,630 

Reserves:    

Equity based payment reserve  252,879 154,413 

Retained losses  (1,424,326) (730,062) 

Total Equity 
 9,325,183 9,920,981 

    

(b) Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 

Total profit/ (loss)  (694,264) (730,062) 

Total comprehensive income  (686,812) (730,062) 

 

 



Burley Minerals Ltd Annual Report 2022 

43 

 

 

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

 

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Burley Minerals Ltd, the directors declare that:   

1. The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 14 to 42, are in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001 and: 

 a. comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which, as stated in accounting policy Note 1 

to the financial statements, constitutes compliance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards; and 

 b. give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of the performance 

for the period ended on that date of the Company. 

2. In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to 

pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. 

  

  

 

 

 

Director 

 

 Bryan Dixon 

Dated this     26th day of September 2022 

 



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF BURLEY MINERALS LTD 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Burley Minerals Ltd (“the Company”) and Controlled Entities (“the 

Consolidated Entity”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 

changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion: 

a. the accompanying financial report of the Consolidated Entity is in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2022 and 

of its financial performance for the year then ended; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

b. the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 

1. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Those standards require that we 

comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 

the Financial Report section of our report.  We are independent of the Consolidated Entity in accordance with 

the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 

Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled 

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 

audit of the financial report of the current year.  These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 

the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 

on these matters.  



 

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter 

Exploration and Evaluation Assets  

As disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements, 

as at 30 June 2022, the Consolidated Entity’s 

exploration and evaluation assets were carried at 

$5,793,413 which included the Company’s 

acquisition of 70% of the issued capital of 

Novarange Pty Ltd during the year.  

 

The recognition and recoverability of the 

exploration and evaluation expenditure was 

considered a key audit matter due to: 

• The carrying value represents a significant 

asset of the Consolidated Entity, we 

considered it necessary to assess whether 

facts and circumstances existed to 

suggest whether an impairment event had 

occurred; and  

• Determining whether impairment 

indicators exist involves significant 

judgement. 

 

Our audit procedures included but were not limited to: 

• Assessing management’s determination of its 

areas of interest for consistency with the 

definition in AASB 6 Exploration and 

Evaluation of Mineral Resources (“AASB 6”); 

• Assessing the Consolidated Entity’s rights to 

tenure for a sample of tenements; 

• Testing the Consolidated Entity’s additions to 

exploration and evaluation expenditure for the 

year by evaluating a sample of recorded 

expenditure for consistency to underlying 

records, the capitalisation requirements of the 

Consolidated Entity’s accounting policy and 

the requirements of AASB 6; 

• Reviewing the acquisition agreement and 

understanding the key terms and conditions of 

the transaction; 

• Testing the status of the Consolidated Entity’s 

tenure and planned future activities, reading 

board minutes and enquiries with 

management we assessed each area of 

interest for one or more of the following 

circumstances that may indicate impairment 

of the capitalised exploration costs: 

o The licenses for the rights to explore 

expiring in the near future or are not 

expected to be renewed; 

o Substantive expenditure for further 

exploration in the area of interest is 

not budgeted or planned; 

o Decision or intent by the Consolidated 

Entity to discontinue activities in the 

specific area of interest due to lack of 

commercially viable quantities of 

resources; and 

o Data indicating that, although a 

development in the specific area is 

likely to proceed, the carrying amount 



 

of the exploration asset is unlikely to 

be recorded in full from successful 

development or sale; and 

• Assessing the appropriateness of the related 

disclosures in note 8 to the financial 

statements. 

Other Information  

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the Consolidated Entity’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022, but does not include the 

financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express 

any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 

fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such 

internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that 

gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1(a)(i), 

the directors also state in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 

Statements, that the financial report complies with International Financial Reporting Standards.  

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Consolidated Entity’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Consolidated Entity or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. Our objectives are to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 

is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian 

Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from 

fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 



 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement 

and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Consolidated Entity’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Consolidated Entity’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Consolidated Entity to cease to 

continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Consolidated Entity to express an opinion on the financial report. We are 

responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Consolidated Entity audit. We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 

our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 

in the audit of the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 

these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 

when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 

benefits of such communication.  



 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2022.  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report 

in accordance with s 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 

remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Auditor’s Opinion 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of the Consolidated Entity, for the year ended 30 June 2022, complies 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
 
 
 
HALL CHADWICK WA AUDIT PTY LTD D M BELL  CA 

 Director 

 

 

Dated this 26th day of September 2022 

Perth, Western Australia 
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

Burley sets out below additional information required by ASX Listing Rule 4.10 and not disclosed elsewhere in this 

report, along with information required to be disclosed as a condition of ASX Listing Rule waivers and 

confirmations given to the Group by ASX. This information is current as at 20 September 2022. 

Corporate Governance Statement 

The Board is committed to achieving and demonstrating high standards of corporate governance. The Board has 

implemented corporate governance policies and practices which it considers appropriate for the scale and maturity 

of the Group’s business and operations. The Group has reviewed its corporate governance practices against the 

‘Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (4th Edition)’ published by the ASX Corporate 

Governance Council.  The Group’s Corporate Governance Statement for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 

has been approved by the Board and is dated 20 September 2022. The Group’s Corporate Governance 

Statement and Corporate Governance Plan are both available on the Group’s website at 

www.burleyminerals.com.au. 

Listing Rule 4.10.19 

The Company used the cash and assets in a form readily convertible to cash that it had at the time of admission in 

a way consistent with its business objectives. 

Other Information 

Burley Minerals Ltd, incorporated and domiciled in Australia, is a public listed Company limited by shares. 

 

Substantial Shareholders 

Shareholder Number of Shares 

Kingsreef Pty Ltd <NB & DL Family A/C> 6,220,000 

Rocket Science Pty Ltd <The Trojan Capital Fund A/C> 5,000,000 

Clive Jones 4,775,000 

Gurravembi Investments Pty Ltd <The Gurravembi S/Fund A/C> 4,500,000 

BT Portfolio Services Limited <Worrell Holdings S/F A/C> 3,163,687 
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Top 20 Shareholders 

Details of the 20 largest holdings of quoted fully paid ordinary shares are set out below. 

Rank Shareholder # of Shares % 

1 KINGSREEF PTY LTD <NB & DL FAMILY A/C> 6,160,000 10.20 

2 ROCKET SCIENCE PTY LTD <THE TROJAN CAPITAL FUND A/C> 5,000,000 8.20 

3 CLIVE JONES 4,775,000 7.83 

4 GURRAVEMBI INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <THE GURRAVEMBI S/FUND A/C> 4,500,000 7.38 

5 BT PORTFOLIO SERVICES LIMITED <WORRELL HOLDINGS S/F A/C> 3,163,687 5.19 

6 SEAMIST ENTERPRISES PTY LTD 2,125,000 3.48 

7 MRS LORRAINE MARY BAHEN 1,734,375 2.84 

8 MRS VICTORIA BAHEN 1,734,375 2.84 

9 HOMAS JAMES HUME 1,239,070 2.03 

10 GARY RAYMOND POWELL 1,144,532 1.88 

11 WARRIOR STRATEGIC PTY LTD <WARRIOR STRATEGIC A/C> 1,107,422 1.82 

12 ROCK THE POLO PTY LTD <ROCK THE POLO A/C> 965,000 1.58 

13 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 938,164 1.54 

14 MR STEVEN ANTHONY MORRIS 895,000 1.47 

15 JEFFREY BRILL <BRILL FAMILY A/C> 694,531 1.14 

16 LORMIC PTY LTD 650,000 1.07 

17 CARDINALS INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 649,280 1.06 

18 MARK JOHN BAHEN & MARGARET PATRICIA BAHEN <MJ BAHEN SF A/C> 600,000 0.98 

19 HAMMERHEAD HOLDINGS PTY LTD<HHH S/F A/C> 502,620 0.82 

20 RAYMOND CLARENCE GARDENER & HINEAKA BLACK <TUMEKA S/F A/C>> 500,000 0.82 

 Totals: Top 20 holders of BUR ORDINARY FULLY PAID 39,078,056 64.17 

 Total Remaining Holders Balance 21,921,945 35.83 

 Total Holders Balance 61,000,001 100.00 

 

Number and Distribution of Holders 

 

Ordinary Shares & Options 

 

 

 

There are 48 holders holding less than a marketable parcel of fully paid ordinary shares.  

 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 

 

$0.30 Options Expiring 

7 July 2023 

$0.30 Options Expiring 

30 September 2023 

Performance Rights 

 Number of Holders 

1 – 1,000 10 - -  

1,001 – 5,000 43 - -  

5,001 – 10,000 60 - -  

10,001 – 100,000 233 - 1  

100,001 and over 85 7 4 1 

Total 431 7 5 1 
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Voting Rights 

 

Fully paid ordinary shares: every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy has one vote on a show of 

hands, and one vote for each share on a poll. 

 

Options: no voting rights. 

 

Unquoted Equity Securities 

 

   Holders of 20% or More 

Class Number of 

Securities 

Number 

of 

Holders 

 

Name 

Number of 

Securities 

 

$0.30 Options Expiring 7 July 

2023 

 

7,350,000 

 

7 

WARRIOR STRATEGIC PTY LTD      2,000,000 

  CG NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) PTY 
LTD 

1,500,000 

   JEFFREY BRILL 1,250,000 

$0.30 Options Expiring 30 

September 2023 

1,100,000 5 ALASTAIR STEWARD MCCALLION 400,000 

   FRANCIS HOPPE 300,000 

Performance Rights 3,000,000 3 WAYNE RICHARDS 3,000,000 

 

Restricted Securities 

Class Number of Securities Restriction Period 

Shares 24,456,952 7 July 2023 

$0.30 Options Expiring 7 July 2023 6,250,000 
7 July 2023 

Performance Securities Up to 30,000,000 7 July 2023 

 

Other 

The Company is not currently conducting an on-market buy-back. There are no issues of securities approved for 

the purposes of item 7 of section 611 of the Corporations Act which have not yet been completed. No securities 

were purchased on-market during the reporting period in respect of an employee incentive scheme. 

 

INTEREST IN MINING TENEMENTS (AS AT 22 SEPTEMBER 2022) 

 
Australia - Yerecoin Project 70% (Novarange Pty Ltd 100% owned) 
 
E 70/2733-I 
E 70/2784-I 
 

Australia – Pilbara projects – 100% owned 

 
Cane Bore:  E 08/3424 (Pending) 
Gregory:  E 47/4579 (Pending) 
Peawah:  E 47/4580 (Pending) 




